0/a 4-27-88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF PLORIDA

FICE

FEB in 1988. ^C

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clark is

CASE NO: 71,081

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

VB.

GROVES-WATKINS CONSTRUCTORS,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

ROBERT I. SCAMMAN
Appellate Attorney
THOMAS H. BATRMAN, III
General Counsel
Department of Transportation
Haydon Burns Building, MS 58
605 Suwannee Street
Tallahessee, EL 32199-0458
904/488-6212

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The State of Florida Department of Transportation, Petitioner, will be referred to herein as the Department. Groves-Watkins Constructors, the Respondent here and appellant below, will be referred to herein as Respondent.

Citations to the record on appeal will be indicated parenthetically as "R" with the appropriate page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, State of Florida Department of Transportation, received bids on May 28, 1986, for State Project Nos. 86075-3443 and 86075-3447, referred to as Package U. Package U was part of the I-595 construction project in Broward County, involving construction of an interchange to connect the Sawgrass Expressway, I-595, and Interstate 75. (R: 1423) On June 17, 1986, the Department posted notice of intent to reject all bids. Respondent filed a timely bid protest.

On November 5, 1986, a Hearing Officer from the Division of Administrative Hearings issued a Recommended Order recommending that the project be awarded to Respondent. (R: 1376-1402) The Department entered a Final Order on December 16, 1986, rejecting all bids and ordering readvertisement as soon as possible. (R: 1408-1447) On December 30, 1986, Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal with the First District Court of Appeal. (R: 1448-1449) At no point did Respondent file a motion for stay of the final order pursuant to Section 120.68(3), Fla. Stat.

On January 29, 1987, Respondent filed a petition for writ of prohibition with the First District Court of Appeal seeking to preclude the Department from proceeding with the reletting of Package U (DCA Case No. BR-410). On February 11, 1987, the First District denied the writ of prohibition.

On February 25, 1987, the Department received five bids at the reletting of Package U. Respondent did not bid at the second letting. On March 23, 1987, the Department posted notice of intent to award Package U to Harbert-Westbrook, A Joint Venture. On March 26, 1987, Respondent filed a protest to the award, which was dismissed by the Department by Final Order on March 31, 1987. The Final Order stated Respondent lacked standing

because they had not submitted a bid and the award was being made to avoid an immediate and serious danger to the public health, safety, and welfare pursuant to Section 120.53(5)(c), Fla. Stat. The contract with Harbert-Westbrook was executed on April 8, 1987, and work began April 28th.

On April 3, 1987, Respondent filed a notice of appeal from the final order awarding Package U to Harbert-Westbrook. Once again they did not file a motion for stay. (DCA Case No. BT-37) On April 13, 1987, Respondent filed a Petition For An Extraordinary Writ with the First District Court of Appeal asking for a stay of performance of Harbert-Westbrook's contract. (DCA Case No. BT-78) By order of April 24, 1987, the First District Court of Appeal denied the petition for an unspecified extraordinary writ, but ordered that it be treated as a motion to stay in the first appeal, Case No. BR-163.

Oral Argument was held May 12, 1987, and on June 11, 1987, the First District Court of Appeal rendered its opinion reversing the final order and remanding with directions that the Department award the contract to Respondent. Upon Motion for Rehearing, the court amended its opinion to say the reversal placed the parties automatically in a contractual relationship and required the Department to amend its Final Order within ten days by deleting all findings and conclusions contrary or in addition to those made by the Hearing Officer; to award the contract to Respondent; and upon failure to enter an amended order as directed, the recommended order would become the final order. This appeal ensued.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 28, 1986, the Department received bids on State Project Nos. 86075-3443 and 86075-3447, also known as Package U. This is a federal aid project with 90% of the funding from federal funds. (R:160) Even though 15 qualified contractors took out plans and bid proposals, only three bids were received. (R:194) Respondent's low bid of \$54,472,335.15 exceeded the Department's official estimate by 29%, or over \$12 million.

The Department posted notice of intent to reject all bids. Respondent timely filed a bid protest, so the matter was referred to the Division of Administrative Hearings for a formal evidentiary hearing.

The invitation to bidders informed the bidders that all bids were likely to be rejected if the lowest responsive bid exceeded the engineer's estimate by more than seven percent (7%). A comparison of Respondent's bid and the estimate revealed that 106 of 153 bid items exceeded the estimate. (R:197) The three major items of discrepancy were the concrete bridge segments, embankment, and mobilization prices. The remaining items made up about 5-6% of the difference in the overall cost estimate.

Standard Department procedure in high bid situations is to have a bid review meeting among the estimators, the bidder, and the Department's local construction office. (R:193) The Department's estimators then make a report and recommendation to the Bid Awards Committee, made up of three Deputy Assistant Secretaries. (R:142) Any decision of the Awards Committee is contingent upon concurrence of the Federal Highway Administration. (R:160-161, 167) On Package U the Awards Committee decided to reject all bids because not enough bids were received and there was not enough grouping around a reasonable cost estimate to indicate a mistake in the estimate. (R:147)

In developing the official estimate, the Department uses a computer program of historical cost data from actual bids received and cost data obtained from telephone surveys. The estimating system uses a cost-base system, as well as historical data. On the original worksheet, material costs, labor costs, equipment costs, and equipment rental rates are all used. Each individual item is given a crew configuration matched with current wage rates to derive crew costs. The historical unit prices are compared with actual quotations, and a decision is made to use one or the other in calculating the job estimate. (R 228-229)

Of the 475 projects totalling \$750 million in bids let by the Department over the previous fiscal year, the overall deviation between low bid and estimate was 1.2%. The low bids on the four adjacent projects to Package U ranged from 16% below the estimate to 1.4% above the estimate. (R:1303)

The official estimate for Package U was not introduced into evidence. Respondent presented testimony from one of its employees as to how he thought the Department calculated the figures used in the official estimate. Department employees testified as to how the estimate is put together, but did not explain the actual figures because of the confidentiality of the estimate. However the Hearing Officer concluded that the Department underestimated the embankment by about \$6 million, the pre-cast bridge segments by about \$5 million, and mobilization by \$1.2 million. Without using the Department's historical cost data and using only the bid figures of Respondent, the Hearing Officer derived a revised estimate of \$53.7 to \$54.6 million. Finding the low bid to be within 2% of the revised estimate, the Hearing Officer found the Department's original estimate to be flawed and unreasonable. (R: 1440-1441) The final

conclusion of the Hearing Officer was that if the Department adhered to the "original, unrevised, erroneous estimate and rejects the bids,... such action would be arbitrary." (R: 1445)

In the Final Order the Department rejected the Hearing Officer's conclusion that the estimate was unreasonable and erroneous and several other findings of the Recommended Order. In each instance the Department included citations to the record to support the rejected findings of fact. The Final Order set forth four basic reasons for rejecting all bids. The primary reason was the high bid of Respondent which exceeded the estimate by over \$12 million. Related to this was the failure of Respondent to prove the existence of sufficient funding, and in particular, the failure to show that the Federal Highway Administration would concur in the award to Respondent as a prerequisite to federal participation in the project. Third, the Department sought increased competition. The fourth reason the Recommended Order was rejected was the failure of the Hearing Officer to follow existing Department policy and his substituting a new "corrected estimate" policy for comparison with the bids. (R: 1408-1419)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal has placed the Department in the position of having two contracts to build the same interchange. The Department has broad discretion to reject all bids and the exercise of that discretion should not be overturned unless there is a finding of illegality, fraud, oppression, or misconduct. There is no competent substantial evidence in the record to support such a finding. This coupled with the fact that the bids were over \$12 million higher than anticipated was a sufficient factual and legal basis to reject all bids.

The appellate court has rejected the Supreme Court's standard of review for an agency's bid award decision. The appellate court has placed the burden of proof on the agency, contrary to prior decisions of this Court. The appellate court has also violated established principles of administrative law by requiring the agency to substitute its established 7% contract award criteria with the Hearing Officer's "corrected estimate" policy based only on the low bid alone without consideration of historical pricing data. The substituted policy adopted by the lower court destroys the frame of reference from which all bids are judged, allows a few suppliers to dictate the price of the contract, and destroys the discretion of the agency to reject all bids without consideration of funding problems, increased competition, or possibility of redesign. This Court has consistently held that it is a violation of principles of separation of powers for a court to dictate the policy of a state agency.

By ordering the Department to award to Respondent and to adopt the Recommended Order as the Final Order, the First District has ordered an agency to exercise its discretion in a particular manner. The order of the appellate court violates Sections 120.57(1)(b)9 and 120.68(12), Fla. Stat.,

Art. II, Section 3, Fla. Const. and Art. V., Section 4, Fla. Const. The First District cannot expand its jurisdiction beyond the constitutional role of "direct review" and violate the statutory restriction not to substitute judicial judgment for an agency's exercise of discretion.

Because Respondent failed to take affirmative action to obtain a stay of the final order pursuant to Section 120.68(3), Fla. Stat. and failed to file a bid solicitation protest to stop reletting of the project and because the district court denied a writ of prohibition to stop the reletting, the Department acted reasonably in reletting the contract and Respondent has waived the right to award of the contract. The lower court's failure to consider legal restrictions on the Department's entering into a contractual obligation concerning Federal Highway Administration approval and budget approval, also renders the court's decision fatally deficient.

ARGUMENT

In this case the Florida Department of Transportation finds itself in the unenviable position of having two contracts with different contractors to construct the same interchange, at the same place, at the same time. The decision of the First District Court of Appeal, as amended upon rehearing, states that the decision reversing the Department's final order accords Respondent the status of a successful bidder, and places the parties "in the equivalent of a contractual relationship, even in the absence of a formal, signed contract." This decision not only violates the standard of review established by this Court for public agency competitive bidding decisions, it violates the statutory scheme of the Administrative Procedures Act, it violates the principles of separation of power, contravenes traditional contract concepts of offer and acceptance, and fashions an inappropriate remedy.

POINT I

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL VIOLATES THE STANDARD OF REVIEW ESTABLISHED BY THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

The Florida Legislature has given the Department broad discretion to reject all bids on competitively bid construction projects:

The department may award the proposed work to the lowest responsible bidder, or it may reject all bids and proceed to readvertise the work or otherwise perform the work.

Section 337.11(3), Fla. Stat.(1985). This Court has recognized that this language gives wide discretion to an agency and a decision based on an honest exercise of this discretion should not be overturned unless there is a finding of "illegality, fraud, oppression or misconduct." Liberty County v. Baxter's Asphalt & Concrete, Inc., 421 So.2d 505, 507 (Fla. 1982). This was consistent with Wester v. Belote, 138 So. 721 (Fla. 1931), which required a showing of fraud, corruption, or unfair dealing. This standard is also consistent with the majority position that courts will only intervene to prevent the rejection of a bid when the obvious purpose of the rejection is to defeat the object and integrity of competitive bidding. 10 McQuillin, Municipal Corporations (3d Ed.) §29.77.

The lower court says this standard should not be applied because this case arises under Section 120.53(5), Fla. Stat. However, there is nothing in Section 120.68, Fla. Stat. which would require the elimination of this standard for review of the Department's decision to reject all bids and rebid this important project.

In construing the Department's statutory discretion to award or reject bids, this Court placed a heavy burden on a challenger:

The statute unquestionably vested in the state road department the discretion to determine who are and who are not responsible bidders, and, in the exercise of this discretion, the complainants in the court below, the appellants here, have not met the burden of showing that the discretion was exercised on a misconception of law or in ignorance, through lack of inquiry, or was the result of arbitrary will or improper influence or in violation of law.

Willis v. Hathaway, 117 So. 89, 95 (Fla. 1928). Contrary to that decision, the First District has turned that burden around and placed it on the agency. See Baxter's Asphalt and Concrete, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 475 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), where the court held: "The statutory grant of discretion in awarding contracts to responsible bidders places a heavy burden on DOT to show it did not act arbitrarily or capriciously." Id. at 1286.

Just because the APA provides a procedural mechanism for challenging an agency's decision to award or reject bids, it should not change substantive law or traditional concepts on burden of proof or the standard of appellate review, as the lower court has done.

Section 120.53(5), Fla. Stat. requires an adversely affected bidder to file a protest of the <u>intended decision</u>. This statutory scheme sets up a hearing to review the decision of the agency, it does not set up a scheme to hold a hearing to formulate a decision <u>de novo</u>, as contemplated by the lower court in its decision. Section 120.53(5)(c) contemplates that the contract award process is stayed until resolution of the protest. It does not say that the award process and decision-making process are started all over by having a hearing to make a new decision. It is clear from this statutory language that no decision-making hearing was intended by the Legislature. In addition the statute anticipates occasions when award of

the contract will proceed in emergency situations and situations which would involve the substantial loss of funding to the state. Section 337.11(3)(c), Fla. Stat. (1987).

Because of this improper frame of reference from which the lower court reviewed this decision, it reached the wrong conclusion. From an evidentiary basis, there was no finding made by the Hearing Officer that the Department's decision was based on fraud, illegality, oppression, misconduct, improper influence, or agency will instead of judgment. For this reason alone the Department's Final Order should be affirmed.

POINT II

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL VIOLATES PRINCIPLES OF SEPARATION OF POWER BY REQUIRING A POLICY CHANGE BE ADOPTED BY THE AGENCY

It is clear under Florida law, that a public agency has no obligation to award a contract to a particular bidder. <u>Volume Services Division of Interstate United Corp. v. Canteen Corp.</u>, 369 So.2d 391 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). Competitive bidding statutes are enacted for the protection of the public. They create a system by which goods or services required by public authorities may be acquired at the lowest possible cost. <u>Hotel China & Glassware Company v. Board of Public Instruction</u>, 130 So.2d 78, 81 (Fla. 1st DCA 1961). Therefore it is the Department's duty to properly exercise its discretion to protect the public purse and to assure the efficacy of the competitive bid process.

Despite the long recitation of facts in the decision and Final Order, there was really only one simple fact that should control the ultimate outcome of this case. It was undisputed that Respondent's low bid exceeded the Department's official estimate by almost \$12.2 million or 29%. So the ultimate decision to award or reject all bids and readvertise the project is a policy decision. The ultimate finding of the Hearing Officer was that the Department's official estimate was wrong. The Hearing Officer reached this conclusion after recreating the estimate based on Respondent's bid alone.

The fallacy of the Hearing Officer's logic, which was adopted by the appellate court, is that it ignores the stated policy of the Department and substitutes the Hearing Officer's ideas for the policy already stated in the bid documents; it destroys the frame of reference from which all bids

are judged; it allows a few suppliers to dictate the price which the state pays; and it would always require award of a project despite other factors such as increased competition, budget limitations, federal aid, or possibility of redesign.

By requiring the Department to adopt the Recommended order in toto, the First District is first countermanding Section 120.57(1)(b)9, Fla. Stat. (1985) which allows the agency to reject the Hearing Officer's conclusions of law. Second, the First District is mandating the adoption of the Hearing Officer's "policy" of a "corrected estimate" comparison. In the Recommended Order, the Hearing Officer created his own "estimate" of the project's cost based on the low bid alone without regard to the Department's historical cost data or the two other higher bids. He then compared the low bid with the "corrected estimate" and found it to be within the award range of 7%. This was not the Department's policy which was provided to all bidder's in the bid package, and upon which it is presumed all bidders relied when submitting bids.

The invitation to bidders stated that all bids were likely to be rejected if the lowest responsive bid exceeded the engineer's estimate by more than seven per cent (7%). Respondent's bid exceeded the official estimate by \$12 million or 29%.

This Court has consistently held that courts cannot dictate the rules and policy of a state agency and to do so would violate the principles of separation of powers. State ex rel. Allen v. Rose, 167 So. 21, 22 (Fla. 1936); Citizens of Florida v. Mayo, 357 So.2d 731, 733 (Fla. 1978).

If there is any doubt that the lower court has violated these principles, one need only review the comments of Judge Ervin in dissent:

The hearing officer, however, did not base his recommended order solely upon competent,

substantial evidence, but in effect made a policy determination requiring that DOT must recalculate its cost estimate based on the figures provided by the low bidder In making this recommended finding, the hearing officer substituted his policy, for that of recommended policy, which sustained, takes from the department the right to do its own cost estimate, based on independent data, and directs the public agency to accept the data provided by the low bidder. By taking this additional step, the DOAH hearing officer has departed from his traditional role in a 120.57(1) proceeding as factfinder and has become a policy maker.

Opinion at p. 22-23.

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