9/0- 4-27-88

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

١

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

1

CASE NO. 71,081

GROVES-WATKINS CONSTRUCTORS,

Respondent.

C pl

### ANSWER BRIEF OF GROVES-WATKINS CONSTRUCTORS

CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL, SMITH, CUTLER, & KENT, P.A. Alan C. Sundberg David S. Dee F. Townsend Hawkes 215 South Monroe Street Suite 410 Post Office Drawer 190 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-1585

#

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

DOT, in an effort to demonstrate policy implications, tries to inject issues into this appeal which either were not raised below or which DOT failed to support with any competent evidence. The ancillary issues of budget limitations, federal aid, and redesign were not raised below. It is well-established that DOT cannot raise these issues for the first time on appeal, see Dober v. Worrell, 401 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 1981), and that this Court's review should be limited to the record before it. See Bryant v. Kuhn, 73 So.2d 675 (Fla. 1954). For these reasons, the District Court properly rejected DOT's arguments concerning these new issues. Groves v. DOT, 511 So.2d at 330. Further, DOT failed to offer any competent evidence to support its argument regarding the potential of increased competition if the project were rebid. (R.O. at 21).

Administrative agencies must provide procedural due process to those persons who are substantially affected by agency decisions. <u>Thorn v. Florida Real Estate Commission; Jonas v.</u> <u>Florida Real Estate Commission</u>, 123 So.2d 264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960). A substantially affected person has a statutory right under Section 120.57(1) to a formal administrative hearing at which he can challenge the grounds for the agency's proposed decision. Parties to administrative hearings must be given a

- 29 -
short and plain statement of the matters asserted by the agency. §120.57(1)(b)2.d., Fla. Stat. (1985) "All parties shall have an opportunity to respond, to present evidence and argument on all issues involved, to conduct cross-examination and submit rebuttal evidence, . . ." §120.57(1)(b)4, Fla. Stat. If the case is referred to the Division of Administrative Hearings, the parties have a right to present their evidence and arguments to a hearing officer for his objective, independent evaluation.

To prevent arbitrary agency action, it is imperative that the agency disclose the basis for its decision and present competent, substantial evidence to support that decision. Florida Cities Water Co. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 384 So.2d 1280 (Fla. 1980); <u>McDonald v. Department of Banking &</u> <u>Finance</u>. An agency may not base its decision on facts which were not disclosed at the hearing and which the opposing party had no opportunity to refute.

> Administrative officers, boards or commissions, who are required to make a determination upon or after a hearing, in the exercise of a judicial or quasi-judicial function, cannot act on their own information. All parties to such a hearing must be fully appraised of the evidence submitted or to be considered, and nothing can be treated as evidence which is not introduced as such, for there is no hearing where a party cannot know what evidence is offered or considered and is not given an opportunity to test, explain or refute. It is improper for such an officer, agency or commission to base its decision or findings upon facts gathered from its own records without introducing the records into evidence.

<u>Thorn v. Florida Real Estate Commission</u>, 146 So.2d at 910; <u>see</u> <u>also Purvis v. Department of Professional Regulation</u>, 461 So.2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). By raising issues for the first time and by raising issues which have no record support, DOT violates these rules of procedural due process. This Court, as the District Court, should reject such unfair and improper tactics by DOT.

Contrary to DOT's argument, the Hearing Officer diligently followed DOT's established policies. First, the Hearing Officer, as does DOT, scrutinized the estimate to determine if it had a reasonable basis. The Hearing Officer found that, after bids are opened, "the DOT will reexamine its estimate to determine whether it is inaccurate. . . ." (R.O. at 4). The procedure of reevaluating estimates after bids are opened is the same procedure used by DOT in such cases as <u>Winko-Matic Signal Co. v.</u> <u>DOT</u>, DOAH No. 84-2250. (R 1348).<sup>3</sup> Finding the estimate inaccurate in several aspects, the Hearing Officer next determined that a reasonable estimate would bring Groves' bid within the seven percent range. Finally, the Hearing Officer applied DOT's non-rule policy that requires awarding of the contract to the low bidder within this seven percent range.

Groves justifiably expects that DOT's policy of reevaluating estimates as done in <u>Winko-Matic</u> and its seven percent policy will be fairly applied to Groves' bid. Since Groves' bid is the lowest bid and is within seven percent of a reasonable estimate,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In <u>Winko-Matic Signal Co. v. DOT</u>, DOT also rejected all bids because they were too high in comparison to DOT's estimate. After opening the bids, DOT revised its estimate, bringing the estimate to within 3% of the low bidder, Winko-Matic. The Hearing Officer concluded that DOT could not then reject the low bid due to DOT's "seven percent" non-rule policy, and ordered the award of the contract to the low bidder. DOT accepted this recommended order and awarded the contract to Winko-Matic.

the non-rule policy dictates automatic acceptance. DOT cannot blindly reject the low bid based on its unreasonable estimate and then claim it fairly applied its seven percent policy.

Florida courts have consistently ruled that an agency cannot deviate from its prior practice without establishing a factual justification for such deviation. Persons affected by agency decisions have a right to rely on agency precedents. They are entitled to consistent results based on similar facts. <u>University Community Hospital v. Department of Health &</u> <u>Rehabilitative Services</u>, 472 So.2d 756, 758 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), <u>rev. denied</u>, 482 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1986); <u>Amos v. Department of</u> <u>Health & Rehabilitative Services</u>, 444 So.2d 43, 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>North Miami General Hospital</u>, Inc. v. Office of Community Medical Facilities, 355 So.2d 1272, 1278 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

The Hearing Officer in the instant case followed DOT's precedents and concluded that Groves was entitled to an award of the contract for Package U. DOT presented no evidence at the final hearing to justify any deviation from its policy or its prior practices. <u>See supra note 3</u>. DOT's argument on appeal, however, would unjustifiably deviate from DOT's prior practice, without any basis in the record, and thus would violate the provisions of Section 120.68(12)(c), Florida Statutes, as well as the Florida and United States Constitutions.

In closing its argument on this issue, DOT conjectures that following the APA procedures will result in a few suppliers controlling prices. First, this is unsupported speculation. Second, contrary to DOT's assertion, there is no record evidence, and none is cited, to suggest that a shortage of embankment

- 32 -

material dictated the prices. Further, the issue of redesign, which DOT again mentions, was not raised below.

Finally, DOT's speculation that it will lose the ability to eliminate a project is completely unfounded. The District Court's decision in this case does not limit DOT's ability to raise valid reasons for rejecting a bid. Although DOT now attempts to raise a variety of issues to defend its decision in this case, DOT never argued and never introduced any evidence at the administrative hearing to support those arguments. For example, DOT never argued that it could not afford to build Package U. To the contrary, DOT has always shown every intention of proceeding with this project.

The precedential value of this case is extremely limited. This case hinges on its facts, not on any principle of law. The critical and controlling fact is that DOT only gave one reason for rejecting Groves' bid. The evidence did not support DOT's position on that one issue. Consequently, the Court's decision in this case will not limit DOT's ability to raise any valid issues to support DOT's decisions in future cases.

- 33 -

III.

THE JUDICIARY HAS THE AUTHORITY TO CORRECT AN AGENCY'S ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND TO ORDER THE AGENCY TO COMPLY WITH THE LAW, WITHOUT ENCROACHING ON EXECUTIVE POWERS

Under the provisions of the APA, the reviewing court is expressly granted the authority to correct an agency's abuse of discretion. The First District Court directly confronted DOT's argument that the court lacks such power, and properly rejected it:

> The department asserts that the reviewing court has no authority to correct the decision of an agency as to which the agency has discretion, arguing that by doing so, the court has, in effect, usurped powers reserved to the executive branch. We disagree.

511 So.2d at 334. The District Court then explained the bases for its authority to review and remedy an abuse of agency discretion:

> This court's broad power to review proceedings arising under Chapter 120, the Administrative Procedure Act, and to order remedial action is legislatively based, as appears from the plain reading of section 120.68(11), (13)(a), Florida Statutes:

(11) If the agency's action depends on facts determined pursuant to subsection (6), the court shall set aside, modify, or order agency action if the facts compel a particular action as a matter of law, or it may remand the case to the agency for further examination and action within the agency's responsibility.

• • • •

(13)(a) The decision of the reviewing court may be mandatory, prohibitory, or declaratory in form; and it shall provide whatever relief is appropriate irrespective of the original form of the petition. The court may:

(1) order agency action required by law,

order agency exercise of discretion when required by law, set aside agency action, remand the case for further agency proceedings, or decide the rights, privileges, obligations, requirements or procedures at issue between the parties; and

(2) order such ancillary relief as the court finds necessary to redress the effects of official action wrongfully taken or withheld.

<u>Id</u>. The District Court concluded by rejecting DOT's premise that DOT's exercise of discretion was immune from judicial review under the APA:

> The department's apparent assumption that it possesses powers to act in the matters at hand in its sole discretion, immune from the processes of law as found in Chapter 120, including judicial review and intervention as necessary to implement decisions arrived at via that process, is contrary to the explicit language of the statutes and the case law of the courts of this state interpreting the same.

## <u>Id</u>.

In this case the evidence demonstrated that <u>but</u> for DOT's arbitrary decision to reject all bids, Groves' bid would have been accepted. The District Court recognized that the appropriate remedy for DOT's illegal action required the award of the contract to Groves. Likewise, this Court should reject DOT's position that it may exercise its discretion with impunity, free from the review and remedial constraints of the courts.

The source of DOT's authority and discretion regarding bidding for public contracts is entirely statutory, as DOT itself recognizes. (DOT Brief at 19). This discretion to reject bids, which DOT so jealously guards, is codified in a statutory grant. <u>See</u> §337.11(3), Fla. Stat. (1985). Surely, DOT must recognize that such a statutory grant may be circumscribed either by judicial limitations or further legislative enactments. The APA, as applied to bid procedures by Section 120.53(5), is just such a limitation on DOT's statutory authority to reject all bids.<sup>4</sup> The legislature certainly can limit DOT's statutory authority by enacting another statutory scheme. DOT's discretion must now be exercised within the APA framework and is subject to judicial reversal for failure to follow those procedures. <u>See</u> 120.68, Fla. Stat. By any stretch of the imagination, this statutory requirement does not offend principles of separation of powers by encroaching on executive powers. <u>See generally State</u> ex rel. Watson v. Caldwell, 156 Fla. 618, 23 So.2d 855 (1946).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The District Court did not usurp DOT's discretion to reject conclusions of law by ordering it to accept the Hearing Officer's order. The district court allowed DOT either to correct its final order or to adopt the Hearing Officer's order. Moreover, given the 20 pages of factual finding in favor of Groves, the legal conclusions were well-established and necessarily followed. In light of the Hearing Officer's findings of fact, reaching any other legal conclusions would necessarily have been an abuse of DOT's discretion.

#### THE REMEDY OF AWARDING THE CONTRACT TO GROVES HAS NOT BEEN WAIVED AND IS PROPER

Groves, a disappointed bidder, established that DOT acted arbitrarily and capriciously in rejecting its low bid because the sole basis for that rejection, the discrepancy between DOT's estimate and Groves' bid, had no rational, factual basis. Instead, DOT's estimate was shown to be flawed and unreasonable because it was not based on accurate or reliable data. The Hearing Officer concluded that DOT could not rationally reject Groves' low bid because the yardstick against which it was measured was fundamentally unreasonable. Both the Hearing Officer and the District Court concluded that the contract should fairly be awarded to Groves, because, but for DOT's wrongful conduct, the contract would otherwise have been awarded to Groves. Thus, this case does no more than to apply basic APA principles to an agency, and does not raise the policy considerations concerning agency discretion advanced by DOT.

Notwithstanding its arbitrary rejection of Groves' bid, DOT now argues that a frustrated bidder, such as Groves, who has been unable to stop DOT from rebidding a contract, has waived the remedy of contract award. In essence, DOT argues that even where a clear violation of the public bidding law has been shown through DOT's arbitrary refusal to accept a bid, the disappointed bidder, who has been unsuccessful in preventing a rebid of the project while its appeals were pending, cannot be awarded the contract because of waiver.

DOT asserts that because it decided to proceed with

- 37 -

IV.

rebidding and letting of the contract in the face of the adverse Hearing Officer's findings and while the matter was under consideration at the First District, Groves has somehow waived its remedy of having the contract awarded to it. DOT asserts this position of waiver in spite of DOT's having caused this entire situation by deciding to proceed with rebidding even though it clearly had underestimated this project as well as another similar project, and even though it wrongfully rejected the Hearing Officer's findings of fact. Further, DOT continued to proceed with its rebidding and letting in the face of Groves' appeal and, ultimately, in the face of the adverse District Court ruling. DOT asserts waiver even though DOT created its own problem by proceeding in a calculated manner at its own peril.

DOT ignores that Groves filed two, separate petitions with the First District Court in an attempt to stop DOT's rebidding and letting of the contract. DOT resisted all of Groves' efforts to stay its actions. DOT now insists that Groves could have done even more by filing a motion under Section 120.68(3), Florida Statutes. However, a stay of DOT's final order in this proceeding would not necessarily have prevented a rebid of the project in another, separate bid proceeding. Therefore, Groves logically sought more appropriate and comprehensive stays under petitions for prohibition and extraordinary writ, which would have halted the rebidding and letting of the contract during Groves' appeal.

DOT also claims that Groves should have filed a bid solicitation protest. However, this type of bid protest deals only with challenges to the bid solicitation itself (e.g., the

- 38 -

bid specifications), not the awarding or letting of the See Capeletti Brothers, Inc. v. Department of contract. Transportation, 499 So.2d 855, 857 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Groves had no interest in challenging the solicitation of bids. Rather, it was the awarding and letting through a second proceeding while Groves' appeal was pending which Groves sought to stop.<sup>5</sup> Again, when Groves sought to file a notice of protest to the second bid proceeding, DOT resisted this effort to stay its proceeding by preemptorily dismissing the notice, despite the clear effects (certainly as now argued by DOT) that this rebid proceeding would have on Groves.<sup>6</sup> DOT afforded Groves no hearing, no opportunity to file a petition protesting the rebid, and no opportunity to establish standing. Now, DOT boldy argues that Groves has waived its remedy of contract award.

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